1993

# Larry M. Chaffin and Greta M. Chaffin v. Mark R. Cromar and Geneve D. Cromar : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

**JURISDICTION**

This appeal is from a summary judgment of the Third Judicial District Court of Salt Lake County insofar as it denies Appellants' right to recover reasonable attorney's fees in connection with an express contract of indemnification. The judgment was entered on November 20, 1992. It was certified as final on June 23, 1993. The notice of appeal was filed on June 30, 1993. The jurisdiction

of the Utah Court of Appeals rests upon Utah Code Ann. §78-2a-3(2)(k)(1992).

#### **ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

1. Did the trial court err in ruling that the phrase "including reasonable attorney's fees" contained in a hold harmless agreement did not apply to enforcement of the agreement itself?

2. Did the trial court err in denying an award of attorney's fees incurred in defending against the claims covered by the indemnification agreement between the parties?

These questions present matters of law for the court to be determined under a correctness standard. Gate City Fed. Sav. & Loan v. Dalton, 808 P.2d 1117 (Utah App. 1991).

#### **DETERMINATIVE PROVISIONS OF LAW**

This case raises a question of contractual rather than constitutional or statutory construction. The contract documents are located in the Addendum at tabs A, B, C and D respectively.

#### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

This is an action by Defendants, Third-party Plaintiffs, and Appellants, Mark and Geneve Cromar, against Third-party Defendant and Appellee, Donald Dwyer, to enforce the terms of a hold harmless agreement executed by Dwyer in connection with the purchase of real estate from the Cromars. The trial court entered summary judgment in favor of the Cromars on the agreement, but denied their request for reasonable attorney's fees. The Cromars appeal the adverse ruling on attorney's fees.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

The following material facts are uncontroverted.

On or about November 6, 1979, the Cromars purchased certain real property located in Salt Lake County, Utah, from Larry M. Chaffin and Greta M. Chaffin (the "Chaffins"), the original plaintiffs in this case. (R. 172; 183). In connection with the purchase, the Cromars executed and delivered a promissory note secured by a second deed of trust to the Chaffins in the principal amount of \$74,000.00 (the "Note"). (R 172-73; 183-84; Add. A, B.)

On or about July 14, 1983, Donald Dwyer purchased the property from the Cromars who conveyed it to him by warranty deed. (R 173; 184; Add. C.) At the closing of this transaction, Dwyer executed an Agreement Surviving Real Estate Closing (the "Agreement") whereby he assumed the Note and agreed to hold the Cromars harmless, including reasonable attorney's fees, from any and all obligations contained in the Note and Second Trust Deed. (R. 173; 184.) The precise contractual language is as follows:

Buyer hereby holds Seller harmless, including reasonable attorney's fees, from any and all obligations contained in that certain first Trust Deed (including the "due-on-sale" clause, if any), and related Note dated September 29, 1974, in favor of UTAH MORTGAGE LOAN CORPORATION, in the original amount of \$475,000.00, copies of which are attached hereto and incorporated herein, and from any and all obligations in that certain Second Trust Deed (including the "due-on-sale" clause, if any) and related notes dated November 6, 1979, in favor of DON L. BUEHNER, UNIVEST CORPORATION, LARRY M. CHAFFIN and GRETA M. CHAFFIN, husband and wife in the original amount of \$185,000.00, copies of which are attached hereto and incorporated herein. (R. 180-81; Add. D.)

Dwyer owned the property for a time, made payments under the Note directly to Chaffins, and subsequently sold the property to a third party. (R. 173; 184.) The Cromars were neither released nor discharged by the Chaffins from their obligations under the Note; Dwyer was not released, substituted, nor discharged from his obligations under the Agreement. (R. 173; 184.)

On or about November 22, 1990, the Chaffins filed a complaint in this action against the Cromars asserting a right to recover full payment under the Note. (R. 174; 185). Shortly thereafter, the Cromars by letter addressed and delivered to Dwyer's attorney, J. Thomas Bowen, demanded payment to be made by Dwyer of all amounts due and owing under the Note and tendered the defense of the action. (R. 174; 185.) Dwyer refused and failed to pay any amounts due under the Note and refused and failed to accept the tender of the defense. (R. 174; 185.)

Upon learning of Dwyer's refusal to pay the amount due or to defend the action, the Cromars employed legal counsel to respond to the complaint which had been filed against them. (R. 174; 185.)

On or about December 13, 1991, summary judgment was entered in favor of the Chaffins and against the Cromars on the Note in the total amount of \$83,108.87. (R. 137-38.) The judgment included Chaffins' costs and attorney's fees in the amount of \$2,454.82. (R. 137-38.) This portion of the judgment has not been challenged.

On or about February 20, 1992, the Cromars again demanded that Dwyer honor the terms of the Agreement and hold them harmless by making payment of all amounts due under the summary judgment of the

court, together with the Cromars' costs and reasonable attorney's fees incurred in defending the action. (R. 175; 186.) Dwyer again refused and failed to pay any amounts due the Cromars under the terms of the Agreement. (R. 175; 186.)

On or about August 11, 1992, the trial court made a Minute Entry under Rule 4-501 granting the Cromar's Motion for Summary Judgment as prayed and awarding "such attorney's fees and costs against Dwyer as are supported by Affidavit and as are awarded by the Court." (R. 260-62; Add. E.)

Following submission of the Cromar's affidavit and proposed judgment, Dwyer filed a notice of objection to that portion of the proposed judgment which would have granted the Cromars' attorney's fees incurred in seeking enforcement of the Agreement against Dwyer. (R. 264.) On or about November 20, 1992, the trial court ruled in favor of the objection as a matter of law, modifying its minute entry of August 11, 1992 and striking the award of attorney's fees to the Cromars in its entirety. (R. 318-20; Add. H.) The summary judgment in favor of Cromars and against Dwyer was then signed and entered as modified by the order granting Dwyer's objection. (R. 315-17; Add. I.) The Cromars appeal from that portion of the judgment striking the award of attorney's fees.

## **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

THE CROMARS ARE ENTITLED TO RECOVER ATTORNEY'S FEES REASONABLY AND NECESSARILY INCURRED IN CONNECTION WITH THE INDEMNIFICATION AGREEMENT.

### **A. Enforceable Contract.**

The Agreement Surviving Real Estate Closing ("Agreement") is a valid and binding contract of indemnification. Attorney's fees reasonably and necessarily incurred in enforcing such a contract are recoverable when the contract so provides.

### **B. Contract Documents.**

#### **1. Rules of Construction.**

In interpreting the terms of a contract, resort must be had to the Agreement as a whole, including the circumstances, nature, and purpose of the contract.

Where an express indemnity contract is involved, the extent of the duty to indemnify must be determined from the contract itself. Any doubt as to the meaning of an express indemnification provision should be resolved in favor of the indemnitee.

#### **2. Contractual Language.**

The contractual language involved is located in two separate documents: (1) The Agreement Surviving Real Estate Closing executed by Cromars and Dwyer; and (2) The Promissory Note executed by Chaffins and Cromars and incorporated by reference into the Agreement. The precise language is as follows:

Buyer hereby holds Seller harmless, including reasonable attorney's fees, from any and all obligations contained in that certain first Trust Deed (including the "due-on-sale" clause, if any), and related Note dated September 20, 1974, in favor of UTAH MORTGAGE LOAN CORPORATION, in the original amount of \$475,000.00, copies of which are attached hereto and incorporated herein, and from any and all obligations in that certain Second Trust Deed (including the "due-on-sale" clause, if any) and related Notes dated November 6, 1979, in favor of DON L. BUEHNER, UNIVEST CORPORATION, LARRY M. CHAFFIN, husband and wife in the original amount of \$185,000.00, copies of which are attached hereto and incorporated herein.

Agreement Surviving Real Estate Closing. (Add. D.) (Emphasis added.)

If this note is collected by an attorney after default in the payment of principal or interest, either with or without, suit, the undersigned, jointly and severally, agree to pay all costs and expenses of collection including a reasonable attorney's fee.

Promissory Note dated November 6, 1979. (Add. A.) (Emphasis added.)

3. Extent of Dwyer's Obligation.

a. The attorney's fee phrase contained in the Agreement applies to obligations contained in both First and Second Trust Deeds and related Notes because of its placement in the sentence before recitation of the principal obligations.

b. Dwyer's primary obligation to pay attorney's fees incurred by Chaffins in collecting the Note was created by the attorney's fee language in the Note itself which he assumed.

c. Dwyer's secondary obligation to pay attorney's fees incurred by Cromars in connection with the Note was created by

the separate and distinct insertion of attorney's fees language into the Agreement.

1) The attorney's fees provision was inserted before the description of the underlying obligations thereby implying a commitment in addition to those obligations.

2) The attorney's fees provision in the Agreement was unnecessary and redundant unless it referred to an additional obligation beyond payment of the Chaffins' fees, since those were already covered by express language in the Note which was incorporated by reference into the Agreement.

3) Courts in other jurisdictions have construed similarly broad language to permit recovery of attorney's fees both for defense of the principal claim indemnified against and for enforcement of the indemnity agreement itself.

4) Public policy favors making an indemnitee whole by allowing recovery of attorney's fees reasonably and necessarily incurred in defending against the principal claim covered by an indemnification agreement and in enforcing the agreement itself; especially where the indemnitor, as here, is given timely notice and tendered the defense of the action, but utterly fails and refuses to meet his contractual obligations.



## ARGUMENT

### INTRODUCTION

To indemnify is to save or hold harmless; to secure against loss or damage; to give security for the reimbursement of a person in case of an anticipated loss. Hasbrouck v. Carr, 145 P. 133, 136 (N.M. 1914); Black's Law Dictionary, (5th ed. 1979). It is an obligation resting on one party to make good a loss or damage incurred by another. Rossmoor Sanitation, Inc. v. Pylon, Inc., 532 P.2d 97, 100 (Cal. 1975). "The right exists when there is a legal obligation on the indemnitee to pay or a sum is paid by him for which the indemnitor should make reimbursement." INA Ins. Co. v. Valley Forge Ins. Co., 722 P.2d 975, 980 (Ariz. App. 1986).

This case involves the proper construction of an express contract of indemnity, i.e., the Agreement Surviving Real Estate Closing between the parties executed on July 14, 1983. (Add. D). The first issue is whether the contract provides for recovery of attorney's fees for enforcement of the Agreement itself, including collection of the judgment against Dwyer. The second issue is whether the Cromars are entitled to recover attorney's fees incurred in defense of the principal action filed by the Chaffins.

## I.

THE CROMARS ARE ENTITLED TO RECOVER ATTORNEY'S FEES REASONABLY AND NECESSARILY INCURRED IN ENFORCING THEIR RIGHT TO INDEMNITY PURSUANT TO THE EXPRESS CONTRACT BETWEEN THE PARTIES.

### A. Enforceable Contract.

It has long been established in Utah that an award of attorney's fees is proper only if supported by statute or contract. B & R Supply Co. v. Bringhurst, 28 Utah 2d 442, 503 P.2d 1216 (1972). When expressly provided by contract, attorney's fees reasonably and necessarily incurred in enforcing the right to indemnity are recoverable. 42 C.J.S. Indemnity § (1991).

In this case, summary judgment based on the Agreement Surviving Real Estate Closing was entered in favor of the Cromars and against Dwyer on November 20, 1992. (Add. I). That judgment was not appealed by Dwyer and is now final. (Add. J, K.). Consequently, the valid and binding nature of the underlying indemnification Agreement has been established. The question is whether Dwyer's promise to hold the Cromars harmless includes the obligation to pay the attorney's fees incurred by the Cromars in enforcing the Agreement itself.

### B. Contract Documents.

#### 1. Rules of Construction.

"When a question arises regarding a written document, the first source of inquiry must be the document itself, considered in its entirety." Hal Taylor Assocs. v. Unionamerica, Inc., 657 P.2d 743, 749 (Utah 1982). In interpreting the terms of a contract, the

court must look to the Agreement as a whole including the circumstances, nature, and purpose of the contract. Utah State Medical Ass'n. v. Utah State Employees Credit Union, 655 P.2d 643, 646 (Utah 1982).

A contractual provision is not necessarily ambiguous just because one party gives that provision a different meaning than another, but rather to demonstrate ambiguity, contrary positions of the parties must each be tenable. Plateau Mining Co. v. Utah Div. of State Lands and Forestry, 802 P.2d 720, 725 (Utah 1990). A contractual provision is ambiguous if it is capable of more than one reasonable interpretation because of uncertain meanings of terms, missing terms, or other facial deficiencies. Winegar v. Froerer Corp., 813 P.2d 104, 108 (Utah 1990). "In determining whether a provision in a contract is ambiguous, the instrument's language must be examined and construed in harmony with the plain and generally accepted meaning of the words used, and reference must be made to all of the Agreement's provisions." Fibreglas Fabricators, Inc. v. Kylberg, 799 P.2d 371, 374 (Colo. 1990). Whether ambiguity exists in a contract is a question of law for the court. Winegar, 813 P.2d at 108.

Where an express indemnity contract is involved, the extent of the duty to indemnify must be determined from the contract itself. INA Ins. Co. v. Valley Forge Ins. Co., 772 P.2d at 979. Any doubt as to the meaning of an express indemnification provision should be resolved in favor of the indemnitee. 772 P.2d at 979 n2.

## 2. Contractual Language.

In this case, Dwyer's promise to indemnify Cromars is found in the Agreement at paragraph d. The entire paragraph reads as follows:

Buyer hereby holds Seller harmless, including reasonable attorney's fees, from any and all obligations contained in that certain first Trust Deed (including the "due-on-sale" clause, if any), and related Note dated September 20, 1974, in favor of UTAH MORTGAGE LOAN CORPORATION, in the original amount of \$475,000.00, copies of which are attached hereto and incorporated herein, and from any and all obligations in that certain Second Trust Deed (including the "due-on-sale" clause, if any) and related Notes dated November 6, 1979, in favor of DON L. BUEHNER, UNIVEST CORPORATION, LARRY M. CHAFFIN, husband and wife in the original amount of \$185,000.00, copies of which are attached hereto and incorporated herein.

Agreement Surviving Real Estate Closing. (Add. D.) (Emphasis added.)

As it happened, Chaffins sued Cromars on the promissory note dated November 6, 1979, and obtained judgment for the entire unpaid balance including accrued interest, attorney's fees, and costs. (R. 137-38.) The relevant language of the Note which defined Cromars' obligation to Chaffins and therefore Dwyer's primary obligation to the Cromars reads as follows:

If this note is collected by an attorney after default in the payment of principal or interest, either with or without, suit, the undersigned, jointly and severally, agree to pay all costs and expenses of collection including a reasonable attorney's fee.

Promissory Note dated November 6, 1979. (Add. A.) (Emphasis added.)

### 3. Extent of Dwyer's Obligation.

Dwyer argued below that he was not obligated to pay any of Cromars' attorney's fees since the language in the Agreement "does not contain any reference to attorney's fees relating to the Second Trust Deed or the related notes." (R. 268.) This construction, however, is seriously flawed, since it distorts the plain meaning of the words and is unreasonable under the circumstances.

Dwyer's construction could find possible justification if the contractual language quoted above had been split into two separate sentences and if the attorney's fees phrase occurred only once with reference to the First Trust Deed. In the instant case, however, such ambiguous sentence structure was not used. Instead, the attorney's fees phrase occurred in a single, integrated, extended sentence. The placement of the phrase "including reasonable attorney's fees" at the beginning of this sentence and before the two parallel phrases "from any and all obligations" referring to the First and Second Trust Deeds and related Notes, clearly means that the attorney's fees phrase was intended to apply to both parallel phrases, not merely the first. To read the sentence as Dwyer would do, distorts its parallel structure.

Dwyer's strained construction is also highly questionable under the circumstances. Why, for example, would the Cromars insist on being held harmless from the obligation to pay attorney's fees on the First Trust Deed on which they were not even parties, and then exclude the obligation on the Second Trust Deed and related Note to which they were? In short, the attorney's fee

phrase is not one of limitation, but of necessary inclusion in order to afford complete protection to the Cromars in the absence of any novation and release of the Cromars by the Chaffins.

There is, however, another aspect of the contractual language which is highly significant. The trial judge concluded that the extent of Dwyer's obligation to pay attorney's fees was limited to those incurred by Chaffins in collecting the Note. (R. 319; Add. H.) These fees were included in the damage award against the Cromars and duly paid. (R. 137-38). The judge erred, however, by failing to note that the obligation to pay the Chaffins' fees was expressly stated in the Note itself. (Add. A.) Thus, the attorney's fee language in respect to Chaffins did not need to reappear in the Agreement between Cromars and Dwyer in order to be binding on Dwyer. Instead, it was expressly incorporated by reference into the Agreement. (Add. D.)

If the obligation to pay Chaffins' attorney's fees was founded upon language in the Note itself, what purpose did the phrase "including reasonable attorney's fees" play in the subsequent Agreement with Dwyer? Here again, the placement of the phrase holds the clue to its meaning. The phrase is placed immediately after the promise to indemnify or hold harmless and before recitation of the obligations to be indemnified against. If it is not to be completely redundant, it must include an additional or secondary obligation to pay attorney's fees other than those of the Chaffins which were already covered by the language in the Note. Cromars respectfully submit that the plain meaning of the phrase in

the Agreement is to hold them harmless from the obligation to pay attorney's fees to their own counsel for any and all legal services rendered necessary by Dwyer's refusal to meet his own contractual obligations to the Cromars. This includes establishment of the right to indemnity and collection of the judgment.

#### 4. Supporting Authorities.

Two courts have recently allowed an award of attorney's fees in litigation to enforce indemnity rights. In Chetopa State Bancshares, Inc. v. Fox, 628 P.2d 249 (Kan. App. 1981), for example, the purchaser's assignee brought an action against certain sellers to enforce the assignee's claimed indemnification rights under a contract for sale of the bank's stock. The lower court granted judgment to reimburse the assignee for its attorney's fees in connection with two related lawsuits and a tax claim based on the bank's conduct, but denied recovery of fees incurred in the suit to enforce the assignee's indemnification rights. Id. The Kansas Court of Appeals held that a contractual provision which stated that sellers agreed to indemnify and hold purchaser harmless from any "expense (including reasonable attorney's fees) suffered or incurred by [purchaser] at any time after the date hereof, arising from, or as a result or in respect of, the breach of any warranty, representation or covenant made by Sellers or any of them in this Agreement," was a covenant that sellers would pay those expenses, and, thus, sellers were required to reimburse assignee for attorney's fees incurred in its suit to establish indemnity rights. Id. at 251.

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