1993

Larry M. Chaffin and Greta M. Chaffin v. Mark R. Cromar and Geneve D. Cromar : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION

1

Cromars. Judge Rigtrup refused, however, to award the Cromars attorneys' fees against Dwyer. It is from that refusal that this appeal follows. This court has jurisdiction pursuant to §78-2a-3(2)(k), Utah Code Annotated.

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Did the trial court correctly interpret the Agreement Surviving Real Estate Closing between the parties in refusing to award attorneys fees for the enforcement of the Agreement itself.

2. May the appellant raise for the first time on appeal issues not presented to the Court below, (See App. Brief p.2, Issues Presented for Review #2).

These issues present matters of law to be determined by the court under a correctness standard. *Gate City Fed. Sav. & Loan v. Dalton*, 808 P2d 1117 (Utah App. 1991); *Olson v. Park-Craig-Olson, Inc.*, 815 P2d 1356 (Utah App. 1991).

DETERMINATIVE PROVISIONS OF LAW

This case raises an issue of the correct interpretation of a contract.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an action by Mark and Geneve Cromar to enforce the terms of an indemnity agreement against Donald Dwyer. The trial court entered summary judgment in favor of the Cromars and against Dwyer on the principal amount, plus interest and the attorney's fees awarded to Larry and Greta Chaffin against the Cromars. The court refused to award to the Cromars the additional

attorney's fees they had incurred. The Cromars appeal from that adverse ruling.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Donald Dwyer accepts the statement of facts as set forth in the Appellant's Brief.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

THE TRIAL COURT'S REFUSAL TO AWARD ATTORNEY'S FEES TO THE CROMARS WAS CORRECT.

1. An indemnity agreement is a contract. In order to recover attorney's fees on a contract action there must either be a statute or an express provision in the contract authorizing such an award.

2. In this case, the agreement limited Dwyer's liability to those obligations contained in the trust deed and note.

3. There was no provision in the Agreement for an award of attorney's fees incurred in enforcing the terms of the Agreement.

4. The overwhelming case law authority, and the law in Utah, precludes an award of attorney's fees for enforcing an indemnification agreement unless the agreement so provides.

5. Appellant is attempting to raise new issues on this appeal.

ARGUMENT

I

APPELLANT IS ATTEMPTING TO RAISE ARGUMENTS FOR THE FIRST TIME ON APPEAL

It has long been established that this Court will not consider arguments on appeal which were not raised before the trial court. *Olson v. Park-Craig-Olson, Inc.*, 815 P2d 1356 (Utah App. 1991). Appellant, however, presents two arguments on appeal which were not presented to the court below, i.e., (1) the Promissory Note executed by Chaffins and Cromars was incorporated by reference into the Agreement Surviving Real Estate Closing (hereinafter "the Agreement"), and that, as a result, Dwyer's primary obligation to pay the attorney's fees incurred by the Chaffins in collecting the note was created by the attorney's fee language in the note itself (App. Brief pp. 6, 7, 12) and (2) that the Cromars are entitled to recover attorney's fees reasonably and necessarily incurred in defending against the principal claims covered by the Agreement, (Point II, App. Brief, p. 19-21). Even though Appellant should be precluded from raising these issues on appeal, since they were not argued below, Dwyer believes that the issues are not well taken.

A. Dwyer Had no Duty to the Cromars Directly Under the Promissory Note. Dwyer was sued by the Cromars for breach of "his promise to assume the note and to hold the Cromars harmless." (R. 30). Indeed, the Cromars acknowledge in their Brief that "summary judgment based upon the Agreement Surviving Real Estate Closing was

entered in favor of the Cromars and against Dwyer on November 20, 1992." (App. Brief p.10). It is clear, therefore, that the Cromars' claim below and the judgment entered against Dwyer was based upon the Agreement and not upon the Promissory Note. The Cromars never contended in the court below that Dwyer had a duty to pay attorney's fees directly to them under the terms of the note. In any event, the subject note provides for the payment of attorney's fees to be paid by the maker to the holder¹ of the note. The note neither contemplates nor requires the payment of attorney's fees to a party other than the holder. The language of the note provides:

"if this note is collected by an attorney after default on the payment of principal or interest, either with or without suit, the undersigned (the Cromars) jointly and severally, agree to pay all costs and expenses of collection including a reasonable attorney's fee." (Emphasis added).

Thus, the note required the Cromars to pay Chaffins' attorney's fees in the event of suit. Pursuant to the Agreement, Dwyer agreed to pay the attorney's fees assessed against the Cromars on behalf of Chaffins. Those fees are included in the Cromars' judgment against Dwyer. There is nothing in the note, however, requiring Dwyer to pay attorney's fees to the maker of the note, the Cromars. Since the Cromars were not holders of the note, the note's

¹ Section 70A-1-201(20) U.C.A. defines a holder as the person in possession of an instrument if it is payable to bearer or to the order of the person in possession.

provisions for payment, interest, or attorney's fees are of no benefit to them².

B. The Cromars are Not Entitled to Attorney's Fees, if any, Incurred to Defend Against the Chaffin's Action. In requesting attorney's fees, the attorney for the Cromars presented an affidavit which lumped together all of the attorney's fees incurred. (R. 303-306). There is no way to tell from the Affidavit whether any attorney's fees were actually incurred on behalf of the Cromars in defending against the Chaffins' claim; indeed, in attempting to establish the amount of attorney's fees, Mr. Durham stated in his Affidavit that they were for,

"factual investigation; preparation of documents, affidavits, pleadings, research and correspondence with respect to the defense of the action for summary judgment by Chaffins, and the prosecution of the Motion for Summary Judgment against Dwyer, including preparation of judgment, conferences with client, and opposing counsel regarding the same." (R. 304-305).

Counsel's Affidavit does not state whether the "research and correspondence" relating to the defense of the Chaffin action was directed to Chaffins' attorney or was part of the demand made upon Mr. Dwyer. In addition, since the Affidavit presents a total lump sum figure, there is no way to determine, from the record, the amount, if any, for which the Cromars believe they are entitled to compensation for defending against the Chaffins' claim. The Cromars, at no time, asked the trial court for an award of

² The holder of an instrument may enforce payment, §70A-3-301 U.C.A.

attorney's fees relating to their alleged defense of the Chaffins' claim. (R. 286-291). Indeed, after the ruling of the court which is the basis of this appeal, the Cromars made no attempt to request a rehearing or to point out to the court that a portion of the attorney's fees were allegedly incurred in defending against the Chaffins' claim; rather, the Cromars remained silent although they had ample opportunity to present the matter to the trial court. Having failed to do so, they should be precluded from now raising the issue.

II

AS SCRIVENER, THE DOCUMENT MUST BE CONSTRUED AGAINST THE CROMARS

The Agreement was drafted by the Cromars' agent. As a result, any ambiguity in the document must be construed against the Cromars and in favor of Dwyer. *Hoffman v. Life Ins. Co. of North America*, 669 P2d 410, (Utah 1983); *Parks Enterprises Inc. v. New Century Realty Inc.*, 652 P2d 918 (Utah 1982). Dwyer believes that the document is clear. He agreed to indemnify the Cromars from the obligations contained in the Second Trust Deed and Note. To the extent, however, that this Court believes that the language is ambiguous, it must be construed in favor of Dwyer.

A. The Court's Interpretation of the Document is Correct. The court in its Minute Entry determined that the Agreement "holds the Seller (Cromars) harmless, including reasonable attorney's fees, from any and all obligations contained in that certain first Trust Deed . . . and related note . . . and from any and all obligations in that certain Second Trust Deed . .

and related notes." The court went on to state "it is clear that Donald Dwyer only agreed to hold harmless the Cromars for all obligations contained in the two trust deeds and notes, including reasonable attorney's fees." (Emphasis added). (R. 319). Nothing is contained in the Agreement authorizing the payment of attorney's fees for its enforcement. It has long been the law in Utah that an award of attorney's fees is proper only if it is supported by statute or by contract. *B&R Supply Company v. Bringhurst*, 28 Ut2d 442, 503 P2d 1216 (Utah 1972). In the instant case there was no contractual requirement that Dwyer pay the attorney's fees incurred by the Cromars to enforce the Agreement. The Cromars' claim against Dwyer is based solely upon paragraph d of the Agreement which reads as follows,

"Buyer hereby holds seller harmless, *including reasonable attorney's fees*, from any and all obligations contained in that certain first Trust Deed (including the "due-on-sale" clause, in any) and related Note dated September 20, 1974, in favor of Utah Mortgage Loan Association Corporation in the original amount of \$75,000, copies of which are attached hereto and incorporated herein, and from any and all obligations in that certain Second Trust Deed (including the "do-on-sale" clause, if any) and related notes dated November 6, 1979, in favor of Don L. Buehner, Univest Corporation, Larry M. Chaffin and Greta M. Chaffin, husband and wife, in the original amount of \$185,000, copies of which are attached hereto and incorporated herein." (Emphasis added). (R. 33-34).

Dwyer's agreement to hold the Cromar's harmless related to two separate encumbrances, the first Trust Deed in favor of Utah Mortgage and Loan Corporation, and the Second Trust Deed in favor of Don L. Buehner, Univest Corporation, Larry M. Chaffin and Greta

Chaffin. The first Trust Deed was foreclosed and no action was commenced on that debt. The instant case relates only to the Second Trust Deed and Note. As the court correctly noted, under the terms of the Agreement, Dwyer agreed to hold Cromars harmless "from any and all obligations in that certain Trust Deed . . . and related notes. Dwyer's obligation to the Cromars, therefore, is limited to obligations "(contained) in" the Second Trust Deed and in the related note³.

Since there is nothing in either the Second Trust Deed or the Chaffin note which would allow the Cromars to obtain an award of attorney's fees against Dwyer, the ruling of the trial court must stand.

B. The Agreement Does Not Provide for an Award of Attorney's Fees for Enforcement. Since Dwyer's obligation to hold Cromars harmless is clearly limited to those obligations continued in the Second Trust Deed and related notes, if Dwyer is to be held responsible for the attorney's fees incurred by the Cromars in enforcing the Agreement, the Agreement must contain a provision awarding attorney's fees "incurred in enforcing the terms of this agreement." The Agreement contains no such provision; therefore,

³ Paragraph 19 of the Second Trust Deed provides that:

"Upon the occurrence of any default hereunder, beneficiary, (Chaffin), shall have the option to declare all sums secured hereby immediately due and payable and foreclose on this Deed of Trust in the manner provided by law for the foreclosure of mortgages on real property and beneficiary shall be able to recover in such proceedings all costs and expenses incident thereto, including a reasonable attorney's fee in such manner as shall be fixed by the court."

the trial court correctly refused to assess against Dwyer the attorney's fees that were incurred by the Cromars in enforcing the Agreement against Dwyer. Both the Second Trust Deed and the Chaffin note provide for an award of attorney's fees only between the direct parties to those documents. In the instant case attorney's fees were awarded to the Chaffins which are included in the Cromars' judgment against Dwyer. There is, however, no provision in the Agreement for an award of attorney's fees to the Cromars for attempting to enforce the Agreement against Dwyer, although including such language would have been a simple matter⁴.

C. The Agreement is Redundant. Cromars argue that their interpretation of the Agreement is the only correct one since any other interpretation would create a redundancy in the Agreement. The Agreement, however, is clearly redundant. The Agreement provides for the buyer (Dwyer) to hold the seller (Cromar) harmless from "any and all obligations³" contained in the First and Second Trust Deeds. The scrivener, however, added "including the 'due-on-sale' clause, if any" in reference to both the First and Second Trust Deed obligations. The term "any and all obligations" is all encompassing⁵ and clearly includes any damages relating to any due-

⁴ "In the event of default of the terms of this agreement, the party not in default may recover its costs, including reasonable attorney's fees incurred in enforcing the terms . . . , or "if either party fails to do as agreed, he shall pay all expenses of enforcing this agreement, including reasonable attorney's fees," are two simple examples which would have obligated Dwyer to pay the Cromar's attorney's fees.

⁵ "All" means (1) the whole of; (2) the greatest possible; (3) every one of. "Any" when used as a pronoun means (1) any one or ones; (2) any amount. *The Merriam-Webster Dictionary*, 1974.

on-sale clause contained in either of the Trust Deeds. Therefore, the specific mention of the due-on-sale clauses in reference to "any and all obligations" is clearly redundant. The language used by the scrivener relating to reasonable attorney's fees is similar and is also redundant⁶. Since Dwyer agreed to pay "any and all obligations" contained in the Second Trust Deed, those would necessarily include both attorneys fees and due-on-sale damages pursuant to the terms of the Trust Deed and Note, thus the specific reference to attorney's fees and due on sale damages is redundant⁷.

III

ABSENT STATUTORY AUTHORIZATION, AN INDEMNITY
CAN NOT RECOVER ATTORNEY'S FEES IN A SUIT TO
ENFORCE THE INDEMNITY CONTRACT UNLESS THE
TERMS OF THE CONTRACT SO PROVIDE

An indemnification agreement is nothing more than a contract. In spite of appellant's contentions to the contrary, it is the well-established general rule that in the absence of express statutory language, attorney's fees can not be recovered in a suit to enforce an indemnity contract unless the terms of the contract so provide. The cases so holding are numerous. Prominent among them is the Tenth Circuit case of *Vallejos v. C.E. Glass Co.*, 583 F2d 507 (10th Cir. 1978). That case involved a suit between a contractor and a glass door fabricator and installer for indemnity.

⁶ Both the due-on sale clauses and the attorney's fee provision are proceeded by the word "including." Thus the term "any and all obligations" is to include both attorneys fees and due on sale damages as contained in the trust deed or note.

⁷ Dwyer submits that the term "any and all" is also redundant.

The court, citing a long line of cases, held that attorney's fees incurred in establishing the right of indemnity were not recoverable. In *Rupp v. American Crystal Sugar Co.*, 465 NW2d 614 (N.D. 1991), Plaintiff filed an indemnification action against a contractor for damages it paid resulting from the death of an employee. There was a written indemnification clause in the contract between the parties covering "any and all claims for loss, injury or damage." The court held that,

"It is well established that an indemnitee may not recover attorney's fees and expenses incurred to establish the existence of an obligation to indemnify unless the agreement explicitly says otherwise."

Similar holdings can be found in *D'Albora v. Tulane University*, 274 So.2d 825 (La. App. 1973), (fees attributable to enforcing right [to indemnification] not recoverable since contract did not provide for counsel fees in case of breach); *Frankel v. Burke's Excavating, Inc.*, 269 F.Supp. 1007 (E.D. Penn. 1967), (no recovery of attorney's fees in connection with assertion of indemnification demand); *Tidewater Construction Corp. v. Southern Materials Co.*, 269 F.Supp. 1000 (E.D.Va. 1967), (right to indemnification for attorney's fees . . . does not include services rendered in prosecuting the claim for indemnity).

Such is also the law of this State. Although *Hanover Ltd. v. Cessna Aircraft Co.*, 758 P2d 443 (Utah App. 1988), dealt with an implied right of indemnity under a strict liability theory in tort and is thus factually far removed from the instant case,

this Court held that an indemnitee is not entitled to attorney's fees incurred in establishing its right to indemnity. Id. at 450.

IV

APPELLANTS AUTHORITIES ARE INAPPOSITE HERE

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